
COMMISSIONERS: TO ASSIST IN ESTABLISHING QUORUMS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT MEETINGS, PLEASE CONTACT THE 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO ATTEND A SCHEDULED MEETING. 

 

TEL. (860) 870-3120     TOWN PLANNER’S OFFICE      FAX (860) 870-3122 
 

CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 9, 2024, 7:00 PM 
ONLINE MEETING, INSTRUCTIONS TO JOIN PROVIDED BELOW 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER: 
 
II. PUBLIC COMMENTS (On Non-Agenda Items): 

 
III. ACTIVE BUSINESS: 
 

1. Review Plan of Conservation & Development, Chapter 4-Conservation Strategies, Natural 
Resource Preservation. 
 

2. Review Sustainable CT Certification Action Overview Worksheet - Conservation Sections. 
• 5.3 Develop Agriculture-Friendly Practices. 

 
3. Report - Farmland Preservation Program. 

 
4. Report - Open Space Preservation Program. 

 
IV. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS: 
 

1. FY 23-24 Budget & Expenditure Update: 
a. Request to Approve Annual Contribution to the Northern Connecticut Land Trust. 

 
2. Approval of November 14, 2023, Regular Meeting   Minutes. 

 
3. Election of Officers. 

 
4. Correspondence/Discussion: 

a. Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee - Monthly Agendas/Minutes. 
b. Letter from Connecticut Land Conservation Council Re: Recent Contribution. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT: 

Next Meeting is February 13, 2024 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
The January 9, 2024, meeting will be conducted solely by electronic equipment using the online video conferencing service 
provider Zoom, unless written request for in-person accommodation is received by the Ellington Planning Department not less 
than 24 hours prior to the meeting date. As provided by statute, members of the public attending electronic meetings will be 
provided with the same opportunity to participate as in-person meetings. Online meeting attendance details are listed below. 
The agenda is posted on the Ellington webpage (www.ellington-ct.gov) under Agenda & Minutes, Conservation Commission. 
 
Join Zoom Meeting via Link: Join Zoom Meeting by Phone: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82271014145 1-646-558-8656 US (New York) 
Meeting ID: 822 7101 4145 Meeting ID: 822 7101 4145 
Passcode: 499065 Passcode: 499065 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT – COUNTY OF TOLLAND 
INCORPORATED 1786 

TOWN OF ELLINGTON 
55 MAIN STREET – PO BOX 187 

ELLINGTON, CONNECTICUT  06029-0187 
www.ellington-ct.gov 

 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82271014145
http://www.ellington-ct.gov/




























2023_11-14 Ellington Conservation Commission 
Minutes 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 
CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 14, 2023, 7:00 PM 
 

IN-PERSON ATTENDANCE: TOWN HALL ANNEX, 57 MAIN STREET, ELLINGTON, CT 
REMOTE ATTENDANCE: VIA ZOOM MEETING 

  
PRESENT: In Person: Vice Chairman David Bidwell, Regular Members James Gage, 

Sean Dwyer and Laurie Burstein, and Alternate Ann Harford 
 Remote Attendance: Regular Member Robert Zielfelder 
 
ABSENT:   Chairman Rebecca Quarno and Alternate Jessica Fay 
 
STAFF:  In Person: Lisa Houlihan, Town Planner and Nathaniel Trask, Recording 

Clerk 
 
OTHERS 
PRESENT: Valerie Amsel, Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee (Remote) 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER: Vice Chairman David Bidwell called the Conservation Commission 

meeting to order at 7:02 PM. 
 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS (On Non-Agenda Items): None 
 
III. ACTIVE BUSINESS:  

 
1. Review Plan of Conservation & Development, Chapter 4 - Conservation Strategies, 

Natural Resource Preservation. (Distributed January 10, 2023) 
 
Ms. Houlihan said this was last circulated in January. Regulation amendments were 
passed by the Planning and Zoning Commission last month and will take effect November 
15, 2023. Ms. Houlihan went through the conservation strategies to prior to the meeting 
to make suggestions on what the commission can work on. The section starts on page 48 
and includes items that have been passed. The open space and farmland preservation 
inventory was updated at the end of 2022 and is currently up to date. The section also 
talks about the concept of transfer of development rights, which is the process by which 
development rights for a parcel can be transferred to another parcel in a different part of 
town. She added that she also sees an opportunity for the commission to coordinate their 
efforts with the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding mixed use development, 
which would be zoning an area of town for residential and commercial use, but there are 
concerns about balancing the town’s population between those areas and rural areas as 
well as managing the finite sewer capacity in the town. Therefore, she thinks the transfer 
of development rights section can be something to discuss in the future. 
 
Next in the Plan of Conservation and Development is an agricultural section, which was 
last looked at by the commission in October. The commission supported the regulation 

  
 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT – COUNTY OF TOLLAND 
INCORPORATED 1786 

TOWN OF ELLINGTON 
55 MAIN STREET – PO BOX 187 

ELLINGTON, CONNECTICUT  06029-0187 
www.ellington-ct.gov 

 
Tel. 860-870-3120   Town Planner’s Office    Fax. 860-870-3122 

 

about:blank


2023_11-14 Ellington Conservation Commission 
Minutes 

Page 2 of 4 
 

amendment allowing for more agricultural-related uses in zoning regulations. The 
Economic Development Commission also supported it, and the Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing regarding the amendment and sent it to the Capitol 
Region Council of Governments. The agricultural section further talks about open space 
or cluster subdivisions. Historic preservation is discussed on page 60, and she said the 
handout from January can be redistributed again via email so commissioners can look 
further into conservation strategies. The historic preservation one is like a Sustainable CT 
initiative, although Ms. Houlihan was unsure what the complete requirements were. A 
survey was completed back in the 1980s and a little over a hundred properties are on the 
National Historic Registry. This is different than having a historic district. 
 
Commissioner Dwyer asked where the potential historical district would be. Ms. Houlihan 
said all the older buildings on Main Street from the church down to Pinney Street, along 
with a few on the other side of the road as well, might qualify for the historical district. Ms. 
Houlihan said this section of Ellington would qualify; however, the homeowners would 
need to buy into it. Homeowners living in houses in a historic district would have to get a 
certificate of appropriateness from a commission before doing any exterior changes to 
their homes. She said so far homeowners living in the potential district have been 
preserving their homes on their own. The town could establish a 90-day demolition delay 
for these homes or also consider an abatement on taxes to convince homeowners in the 
potential historical district to preserve their homes. 
 
Vice Chairman Bidwell asked what deadline was happening in April. Ms. Houlihan said 
the Sustainable CT certification program has two application periods, one in August and 
another in April. The town’s sustainability committee continues to meet monthly, and this 
is the next application deadline. 
 

2. Review Sustainable CT Certification Action Overview Worksheet - Conservation Sections 
a. 5.3 Develop Agriculture-Friendly Practice. 

 
Ms. Houlihan said the group completed 3.4 and 3.5 that was submitted for the fall 
review. The town received the maximum number of points. The next one she is 
working on is 5.3 for farmland preservation, which will include some of the efforts that 
have been accomplished by the commission in the past and are currently being 
uploaded to Ellington’s dashboard on the Sustainable CT website. There are five 
different subsections in 5.3, which is to develop agricultural and cultural-friendly 
practices. Section 5.3.1 has to do with developing policies and regulations that 
promote and support agricultural uses. She uploaded the Right to Farm ordinance, 
which was approved in 2019 and should receive credit since it is still applicable. She 
will also upload two sets of regulation amendments, including one in 2016 for farm 
stores and backyard poultry. The other amendment was passed this year that allowed 
for more agricultural-related uses in zoning regulations. A copy of the town’s tax 
abatement agreement, which was originally adopted in 2002 and amended in 2017 to 
allow farms to qualify, will be uploaded. The amendment allowed Oakridge Dairy to 
build their structure and start the Modern Milkman. 
 
The next part she is waiting for is 5.33, which is regarding the farmland preservation 
program. There is no new status on Oakridge Dairy’s last farmland preservation 
application pending with the Connecticut Department of Agriculture. The Connecticut 
Farm Bureau does not think the survey will be completed by the end of the year. 
Section 5.5 is the establishment of the farmland acquisition fund. The town does not 
have a fund, but it does have a $2 million bond authorization. Ms. Houlihan will ask 
Sustainable CT about what to do about not having a fund but having this bond 



2023_11-14 Ellington Conservation Commission 
Minutes 

Page 3 of 4 
 

authorization program in place, especially since every farmland preservation 
application that has gone to town meeting has been approved. 

 
3. Report - Farmland Preservation Program. 

 
Ms. Houlihan had nothing new to report other than what was previously reported about 
Oakridge Dairy. 

 
4. Report - Open Space Preservation Program – Realtor.com listing for Assessor Parcel 

Number 126-001-0001, 49.62 acres, Webster Road in the Rural Agricultural Residential 
(RAR) zone. 

 
Assessor Parcel Number 126-001-0001 was brought to the attention of Ms. Houlihan by 
Linda Anderson, chair of the Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee. According to Ms. 
Houlihan, Ms. Anderson wanted to know if the commission would be interested in 
pursuing it for open space preservation. The property is next to other open space and is 
adjacent to state forest land. Commissioner Gage said he walked that land earlier this 
year and said when it was first listed, the land started out at $300,000. A new owner 
increased the price $169,000, and the property is now for sale at $469,000. He said the 
property is way overpriced and probably wouldn’t be developed due to the steepness. 
Ms. Houlihan showed the commission a topographical map of the property which 
confirmed its steepness. Vice Chairman Bidwell asked if there is road access to the 
Shenipsit State Forest anywhere in Ellington. Commissioner Gage said the Wraight 
property has access to it along with the Brady property on Kibbe Road. 

 
Commissioners indicated they were not in favor of considering this property for open 
space preservation due to pricing, location, and topography factors. 

  
BY CONSENSUS, THE COMMISSION DECLINED TO CONSIDER ASSESSOR 
PARCEL NUMBER 126-001-0001, 49.62 ACRES, WEBSTER ROAD FOR OPEN 
SPACE PRESERVATION. 
 

IV. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS: 
 
1. FY 23-24 Budget & Expenditure Update. 

a.  Request to approve annual donation to the CT Land Conservation Council. 
 
Ms. Houlihan said in the past the donation has been budgeted for $450.00. The Board of 
Finance recommended the donation be budgeted like other dues and subscriptions. 
 

MOVED (DWYER) SECONDED (HARFORD) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO DONATE 
$450.00 TO THE CONNECTICUT LAND CONSERVATION COUNCIL FROM THE 
CONSERVATION COMMISSION’S DUES AND SUBSCRIPTIONS ACCOUNT. 

 
2. Approval of October 10, 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes. 

 
MOVED (GAGE) SECONDED (DWYER) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO APPROVE 
THE REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF OCTOBER 10, 2023, AS WRITTEN. 
 
3.  Draft - 2024 Ellington Conservation Commission meeting schedule. 
 
A copy of the meeting 2024 Conservation Commission meeting schedule was not included in 
the agenda packets sent to commission members, so this item was initially tabled until next 



2023_11-14 Ellington Conservation Commission 
Minutes 

Page 4 of 4 
 

meeting. While commissioners were discussing the next agenda item, Ms. Houlihan did find 
a copy of the meeting schedule, so they returned to this item. In 2024, meetings will be held 
on the second Tuesday of each month except May’s meeting, which will be held on the third 
Tuesday due to the town’s budget vote. Ms. Houlihan asked if members would feel 
comfortable approving the schedule as written with the possibility of amending the May 
meeting to the first Tuesday of the month at the next meeting. Commissioners were in favor 
of that. 
 
MOVED (HARFORD) SECONDED (ZIELFELDER) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO 
APPROVE THE 2024 CONSERVATION COMMISSION MEETING SCHEDULE AS 
WRITTEN. 

 
4.  Correspondence/Discussion: 

a.  Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee - Monthly Agendas/Minutes. 
 

Ms. Amsel addressed the commission. The group is looking to put a proposal in for kiosks 
for a grant. She got an estimate on November 14, 2023, from a company in Vermont who 
would be completing the project. She has been working with Public Works Director Tom 
Modzelewski on a design for a boardwalk along the Hockanum River trail. Mr. 
Modzelewski is coordinating with the fire service for Tolland County about the emergency 
locator signs that have been installed along trails in Ellington because Tolland County is 
looking to use a similar design for their use. Those signs might have to be changed. 
Blazing needs to be done at Highlands, however boundary signs have been completed 
and the bridge has been partially fixed. Vice Chairman Bidwell said he would help move 
the decking needed to repair the rest of the bridge. Blazing at Metcalf Nature Preserve 
has been completed. The Trail of Treats event was a success with an estimated 800 kids 
in attendance. 
 
The group will be taking a walk along Snipsic Lake Road on Saturday, November 25, 
2023, at 10 a.m. for anyone that wants to join. 

 
V. ADJOURNMENT: 

 
MOVED (DWYER) SECONDED (HARFORD) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO ADJOURN 
THE CONSERVATION COMMISSION MEETING AT 7:38 PM. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
_________________________ 
Nathaniel Trask, Recording Clerk 
 









Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee 

Regular Meeting Minutes 

December 6, 2023 

Town Hall Annex 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Donna Allen, Judi Manfre, Linda Anderson, Cynthia van Zelm, Tom 

Palshaw, Dan Chamberlin, Robert Barone, Ann Harford, Lindsay Neubecker, Deanna Wambolt-

Gulick 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Valerie Amsel, Larrissa Burke, Bill Schultz 
 

I. Call to Order 

Ms. Anderson called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM.  

II. Citizens’ Forum: No discussion was held. 

III. Approval of Minutes 

A. November 1, 2023 

MOVED (ALLEN), SECONDED (HARFORD) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO 

APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE NOVEMBER 1, 2023 MEETING. 

IV.  Old Business 

A. Hockanum River Crew Report 

1. 36 ft Boardwalk - Cost 

Ms. Anderson and Ms. van Zelm shared their support for the boardwalk, stating how beautiful 

the trail is and how it would benefit from this project. 
 

Mr. Palshaw shared that the boardwalk proposal will need to go through the Inland Wetlands 

Agency. Ms. Anderson shared that the Committee is hoping that there will be volunteers 

available, possibly from Key Bank, to help with the labor of the boardwalk.  
 

There was discussion between different boardwalk designs, and the Committee reviewed a 

proposal from Ms. Amsel. Mr. Palshaw voiced support for the initial proposal compared to the 

proposal the Committee is looking at currently, due to costs. Ms. Wambolt-Gulick asked what 

was driving the price difference. Mr. Palshaw said that it is the cost of materials, though the 

Committee has some of the necessary materials already for this project, which could ultimately 

provide savings. 
 

 

               CHAIRMAN 

LINDA ANDERSON 

 

VICE CHAIRMAN 

CYNTHIA VAN ZELM 

 

SECRETARY 

DEANNA WAMBOLT-GULICK 

 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT – COUNTY OF TOLLAND 
INCORPORATED 

 

TOWN OF ELLINGTON 
Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee 

 

55 MAIN STREET – PO BOX 187 

ELLINGTON, CONNECTICUT 06029-0187  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

VALERIE AMSEL 

JUDI MANFRE 
LARRISSA BURKE 

DONNA ALLEN 
LINDSAY NEUBECKER 

BILL SCHULTZ 

TOM PALSHAW 
DAN CHAMBERLIN 

ROBERT BARONE 

ANN HARFORD 

 

 



Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee 2 December 6, 2023 

Ms. Anderson shared that Ms. Amsel has made a bridge in an almost identical design before for 

the Committee, and it has worked very well.  
 

Ms. Harford expressed concern over maintenance needs, including some hazardous trees by the 

radio station. Ms. Anderson will reach out to Public Works to have them address the issue. There 

is also a bridge that needs repair, Bridge 1, as boards are wearing out. The Committee could use 

Trex to reinforce it.  
 

Ms. Anderson asked about boundary signs. She gave some to Mr. Palshaw to put up but 

questions the necessity of them. Mr. Palshaw said that the main area of need is by the radio 

station. Ms. Anderson asked if any other signage is needed, such as signs prohibiting motorized 

vehicles or signs prohibiting hunting. Mr. Palshaw said that those reminders are already on the 

kiosk.  
 

B. Conservation Commission Report 

Ms. Harford shared that the property on Webster is not conducive to the Committee’s needs, 

given the price point. 
 

C. Grants for Kiosks  

Ms. Anderson shared that she submitted the application for five kiosks, totaling just under 

$9,000. 

D. New Emergency Signs 

There was nothing new to report at this time. 

E. Meeting Schedule 2024 – Handout  

The Committee members were given the meeting schedule to review for 2024, nothing that there 

are no scheduled meetings in January or July. 

V. New Business 

A. Crystal Ridge Emergency Sign Map – Handout  

Mr. Palshaw shared a map of his understanding of the current trail, noting emergency vehicle 

access points. Ms. Anderson shared concern that there is a trail missing from the map Mr. 

Palshaw presented. She drew in the missing trail; Mr. Palshaw will update his copy to aid in the 

planning of emergency sign placement. 
 

B. Crystal Ridge – New Map  

Ms. Anderson is planning to work on this once the emergency sign locations are determined, 

hopefully in January/February. Mr. Palshaw shared that six signs were purchased but more may 

be needed. 
 

VI.  Subcommittee Reports 

A. Treasurer 

The Committee has $4,021 remaining for the fiscal year. Ms. Anderson shared that she bought 

steel wool to block up holes in the storage unit. 

B. Maintenance 



Ad Hoc Ellington Trails Committee 3 December 6, 2023 

1. Ellington Highlands – Andrew Clearing for Picnic Tables/Go Fund Me 

Account/Replacement Bridge 

Ms. Anderson shared that Andrew Boen went with his dad to Ellington Highlands to get working 

on the picnic tables; he cleared the whole space and laid down plastic to make sure it is ready for 

mulching and construction in the spring. A progress picture was included in the newsletter. 

Ms. Amsel has been working on rebuilding the bridge at Ellington Highlands. 

Ms. Neubecker asked about the parking on Stein Road for Ellington Highlands. Ms. Allen and 

Mr. Barone shared that they saw Public Works around the area, and the Committee is hopeful 

that the project will be starting soon.  

Mr. Palshaw expressed concern over the safety issues caused by the leaves at Ellington 

Highlands; Ms. Anderson made a note for their removal in the spring. 

2. Metcalf – Downed Fence  

The property’s steward contacted Ms. Anderson and Ms. Amsel to share that the fence was 

rotting and fell. As Ms. Amsel was working on it, a neighbor volunteered their time, helping to 

dig the holes and put up a new fence, which is now up and complete. 

C. Community Outreach 

1. After Thanksgiving Walk 

Ms. Anderson shared that this event had a good turnout of 13 people. 
 

2. Ginny Apple Talk on Bears – November 28th, 6:30 pm  

Ms. Anderson shared that this event was well attended; 25 individuals were present, and it was 

very informative. Ginny brought a bear pelt to show. 
 

3. Ginny’s Talks in January/February/March 

The Committee is looking to schedule talks on amphibians, beavers/muskrats/minx, and 

squirrels/flying squirrels/chipmunks. 

 

VII.   Adjournment  

MOVED (VAN ZELM), SECONDED (MANFRE) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO 

ADJOURN THE TRAILS COMMITTEE MEETING AT 7:15 PM.  

 

Prepared by Deanna Wambolt-Gulick; submitted by       Julia Connor              

             Julia Connor     

     

       

 
 

 




	CONSERVATION COMMISSION
	REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
	IV. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS:
	V. ADJOURNMENT:
	2024_01-09 CC Agenda.pdf
	CONSERVATION COMMISSION
	REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
	IV. ADMINISTRATIVE BUSINESS:
	V. ADJOURNMENT:




